
Board of Appeals
Meeting Agenda - September 08, 2020

Page | 1

PUBLIC NOTICE & AGENDA
BOARD OF APPEALS

City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511
5:00 PM

Tuesday, September 08, 2020

*
            Members of the media or the public may participate in the open session portion of this agenda by calling 872-240-3212,

access code 465-245-669.  All participants' phones will be muted.  Attendance at the meeting in person will be limited. 
If you would like to provide comments for any of the items on the agenda, please submit those to planning@beloitwi.gov
by 12:00 noon on Tuesday, September 8, 2020.  Note special start time of 5:00 PM.

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

2. ELECTION OF OFFICERS
2.a. Nomination and Election of Chair

2.b. Nomination and Election of Vice-Chair

2.c. Nomination and Election of 2nd Vice-Chair

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
3.a. Consideration of the Minutes of the December 18, 2018 meeting.

Attachment

4. PUBLIC HEARINGS (VARIANCE REQUESTS)
4.a. Consideration of an application from Peter Payne for an Area Variance to Section 7.1 of the

Zoning Ordinance to allow the subdivision of a property with two existing residential structures
into two lots - each less than 6,000 square feet in area in an R-1B, Single-Family Residential
District, for the property located at 1435 E. Broad Street.
Attachment

4.b. Consideration of an application from Dennis Pounds for an Area Variance to Section 7.1 of the
Zoning Ordinance to allow a building addition within the front setback area in an R-1B,
Single-Family Residential District, for the property located at 1239 Porter Avenue.
Attachment

5. ADJOURNMENT

1

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/681809/BOA_Minutes_12-18-18.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/681812/BOA-2020-01__1435_E._Broad_Street__Staff_Report_4_a_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/682076/BOA-2020-02__1239_Porter_Avenue__Staff_Report_4_b_.pdf


Beloit Board of Appeals
Meeting Agenda - September 08, 2020

Page | 2

** Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the
needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information to request this service,
please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511.

2



Page 1 of 2

MINUTES
CITY OF BELOIT BOARD OF APPEALS

Special Meeting of December 18, 2018

A Special Meeting of the City of Beloit Board of Appeals was held on Tuesday,
December 18, 2018, in The Forum of Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. Chairperson
Dustin Gronau called the meeting to order at 5:00 PM.

1. Roll Call
Director of Planning & Building Services Drew Pennington called the roll.
Present were: John Schroer, Merlin Bussan, Carolyn Hansen, Dustin Gronau, and
John Petersen.

2. Approval of the Minutes of the July 10, 2018 Meeting
Mr. Schroer made a motion to approve the July 10, 2018 Minutes as submitted.
Mr. Petersen seconded the motion. The motion passed (5-0), voice vote.

3. Liusong Su – 437 Harrison Avenue
BOA-2018-02 Use Variance to Section 6.3.2(e)(4) of the City of Beloit Zoning
Ordinance to allow a restaurant operation within a single-family home located
at 437 Harrison Avenue.

Mr. Pennington reviewed the staff report and recommendation.

Ms. Hansen asked Mr. Pennington if the zoning variance is the only obstacle to
the applicant opening her restaurant. Mr. Pennington stated that the applicant
would still need to comply with all of the other health & safety requirements,
many of which require significant alterations and cost.

Mr. Bussan asked Mr. Pennington what the applicant’s recent alterations were
intended to achieve, and Mr. Pennington stated that the applicant appeared to
be trying to comply with the building inspector’s orders.

Daniel Youd approached the lectern with Ms. Su, identified himself as a Beloit
College professor and the applicant’s translator for the proceedings. Ms. Su
provided an opening statement (translated into English by Mr. Youd) in which
she thanked the board for consideration, stated her desire to continue her
business, and reiterated her hardship argument relating to her husband’s
medical condition. Ms. Su stated that if the variance is granted, she would
abide by all health and safety rules.

Tim Huffman, 2442 Murphy Woods Road, approached the lectern and identified
himself as a builder and a friend of the applicant. Mr. Huffman stated that he
is attempting to help the applicant obtain permits and to manage

3



Page 2 of 2

subcontractors. The Board asked Mr. Huffman why all of the work was
completed without any permits, and an answer was not provided.

Mr. Gronau closed the public hearing.

Ms. Hansen stated that it was unclear how to interpret the lack of
neighborhood opposition, and stated her general support for the business.

Mr. Gronau stated that the project was done without permits, and that the
applicant should invest in a more appropriate location.

Mr. Bussan stated that none of the five standards for a variance are met, and
that hardship cannot be self-created.

Ms. Hansen asked the audience if any neighbors are opposed. A member of the
audience stated that he is a neighbor, but attended only to gather information.
Mr. Pennington reminded all parties that the public hearing had been closed.

Mr. Petersen stated that a home-based restaurant could be problematic for
utility providers.

Mr. Gronau stated that the use may negatively impact surrounding home
values.

Mr. Schroer made a motion to deny the requested variance. Mr. Bussan
seconded the motion. The motion passed (4-1), voice vote.

4. Adjournment
The meeting adjourned at 5:30 PM.

Respectfully submitted,
Drew Pennington, AICP

4



BOA-2020-01, 1435 E. Broad Street, Payne

REPORT TO THE BELOIT BOARD OF APPEALS

Meeting Date: September 8, 2020 Agenda Item: 4(a) File Number: BOA-2020-01

Applicant: Peter Payne Owner: Ardith, Mary, & Peter Payne
and Belden Golden (4 Owners on File)

Location: 1435 E. Broad Street (and
312 Hancock Street)

Existing Zoning: R-1B, Single-Family
Residential District

Existing Land Use: Multiple
Dwellings

Parcel Size: 0.23 Acre

Request:
Peter Payne has filed an application requesting an Area Variance to Section 7.1 of the City of Beloit Zoning Ordinance to
allow the subdivision of a property with two residential structures into two lots – each less than 6,000 square feet in area
in an R-1B, Single-Family Residential District, for the property located at 1435 E. Broad Street.

Request Overview/Background Information:
The subject property is a ¼ acre corner lot at the northwest corner of E. Broad Street and Hancock Street. The subject
property has two existing residential structures (nonconforming use in R-1B), and four owners of record. The structures
lost their nonconforming duplex status in 2012, and may only be used as single-family dwellings. If the requested variance
is approved, the applicant will proceed with the attached Certified Survey Map (CSM) to create a lot for each dwelling.

Key Issues:
 The subject property is located in an R-1B, Single-Family Residential Zoning District. Newly created lots in the R-

1B District must be at least 50 feet in width and 6,000 square feet in area.
o Proposed Lot 1 has 62 feet of width along Hancock Street and is 4,400 square feet in area.
o Proposed Lot 2 has 75 feet of width along Hancock Street, 44 feet of width along E. Broad Street, and is

4,500 square feet in area.
o Note that the survey discovered that a neighbor’s garage is encroaching onto the subject property, and

therefore a 655 square-foot out-lot is being created that may be conveyed to the adjacent owner.
 If the requested variance is approved, the applicant will need to seek Plan Commission approval of the CSM.
 Each of the proposed lots has an existing access driveway on Hancock Street.
 The subject property was subdivided in 1900 as Lot 10 & part of Lot 9 of the East End Addition. According to the

surveyor, a survey to split the parcel was completed in 1952 but never recorded.
 According to the applicant, approval of the variance will allow the land division to proceed, which may allow the

family to sell one or both of the lots.
 The attached Public Notice was sent to 10 nearby property owners. As of this writing, Planning staff has not

received any comments or concerns.
 Wisconsin Supreme Court Standards for Area Variances

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has established a standard for granting variances to zoning regulations. For
“area” variances, the property owner and/or applicant has the burden of proving that the standard for granting an
area variance has been met. In order to grant an area variance, the Board of Appeals must determine that all of
the following criteria of section 2-903 are satisfied:
(a) Compliance with the strict letter of the Zoning Ordinance regulating area, setbacks, frontage, height, bulk or

density would create a hardship by either:
(1) unreasonably preventing the owner from using the property for a permitted purpose; or
(2) rendering conformity with such regulations unnecessarily burdensome.

(b) The hardship is unique to the property.
(c) The hardship is not self-created.
(d) The variance will not undermine the purpose of the ordinance or the public interest.
(e) The variance will not permit a use of land that substantially changes the character of the neighborhood.

 The attached Findings of Fact evaluate this application against the above standards.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan:
 The Comprehensive Plan recommends Single-Family Residential – Urban uses and a zoning district classification

of R-1B for the subject property.

5



BOA-2020-01, 1435 E. Broad Street, Payne

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the requested Area Variance to Section 7.1 of the
City of Beloit Zoning Ordinance to allow the subdivision of a property with two residential structures into two lots – each
less than 6,000 square feet in area in an R-1B, Single-Family Residential District, for the property located at 1435 E.
Broad Street, based upon the established criteria of Section 2-903 of the Zoning Ordinance and the attached Findings of
Fact.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Findings of Fact, Location & Zoning Map, Photos, Application, CSM, Public Notice, and Mailing List.

6



BOA-2020-01, 1435 E. Broad Street, Payne

CITY OF BELOIT
FINDINGS OF FACT

Area Variance to Section 7.1 of the City of Beloit Zoning Ordinance to allow the subdivision of a property with
two residential structures into two lots – each less than 6,000 square feet in area in an R-1B, Single-Family
Residential District, for the property located at 1435 E. Broad Street.

Under the standards for Area Variances in Section 2-903 of the Zoning Ordinance, Planning staff finds:

(a) Compliance with the strict letter of the Zoning Ordinance regulating area, setbacks, frontage, height, bulk or
density would create a hardship by either:

(1) Unreasonably preventing the owner from using the property for a permitted purpose; or

(2) Rendering conformity with such regulations unnecessarily burdensome.

Compliance with the strict letter of the Ordinance would force the owners to keep the subject property in its current
nonconforming use state (two dwellings on one parcel), rather than making the use conforming (one dwelling on each
parcel).

(b) The hardship is unique to the property.

The subject property is unique in ownership status (50% in one name and one-third split among three others), and is
unique in that it has had two structures on one lot for almost 70 years. A survey completed in 1952 prior to
constructing the dwellings would have resolved this issue, but was never recorded with the Register of Deeds.

(c) The hardship is not self-created.

The subject property was downzoned to single-family and the current standards were enacted in 1999. In addition, the
adjacent property owner is encroaching onto the subject property with their garage, which must be resolved by the
CSM and further reduces the size of the proposed lots.

(d) The variance will not undermine the purpose of the ordinance or the public interest.

The variance is arguably consistent with the purpose of the ordinance because it will make the land use more
conforming by placing a single-family dwelling on each new parcel. The proposed lots meet the minimum width
requirements in the ordinance.

(e) The variance will not permit a use of land that substantially changes the character of the neighborhood.

The applicant is not proposing a change in land use.

7



BOA-2020-01, 1435 E. Broad Street, Payne

Location Map

8



BOA-2020-01, 1435 E. Broad Street, Payne
9



BOA-2020-01, 1435 E. Broad Street, Payne
10



BOA-2020-01, 1435 E. Broad Street, Payne
11



BOA-2020-01, 1435 E. Broad Street, Payne
12



BOA-2020-01, 1435 E. Broad Street, Payne
13



BOA-2020-01, 1435 E. Broad Street, Payne
14



BOA-2020-02, 1239 Porter Avenue, Pounds

REPORT TO THE BELOIT BOARD OF APPEALS

Meeting Date: September 8, 2020 Agenda Item: 4(b) File Number: BOA-2020-02

Applicant: Dennis Pounds Owner: Dennis Pounds Location: 1239 Porter Avenue

Existing Zoning: R-1B, Single-Family
Residential District

Existing Land Use: Single-Family
Dwelling

Parcel Size: 0.25 Acre

Request:
Dennis Pounds has filed an application requesting an Area Variance to Section 7.1 of the City of Beloit Zoning Ordinance
to allow a building addition within the front setback area in an R-1B, Single-Family Residential District, for the property
located at 1239 Porter Avenue.

Request Overview/Background Information:
The applicant has proposed the construction of a 14-foot x 20-foot addition to the front (Porter Avenue) side of the existing
dwelling. The subject property is a triangle-shaped parcel at the intersection of Porter Avenue and Prairie Avenue.

Key Issues:
 Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance establishes a minimum front setback of 20 feet in the R-1B district. According

to the applicant’s attached site plan, the existing house has a front setback of approximately 17 feet (along the
shortest line) on the front side of the property. Note that the house is not parallel with the front (Porter) lot line, so
the house and proposed addition do not have symmetrical setbacks. The existing front setback is nonconforming.

 The proposed addition would leave a setback of approximately 7.5 feet at the building corner closest to the front
lot line as shown on the attached site plan. The house is 28 feet wide while the proposed addition is 20 feet wide.

 The exiting house is 2,128 square feet in area and was constructed in 1926. The applicant recently obtained a
permit for an addition to his detached garage as shown on the site plan. The property has double street frontage.

 The attached Public Notice was sent to 22 nearby property owners. As of this writing, Planning staff has not
received any comments or concerns. Two neighbors called to obtain more information.

 Wisconsin Supreme Court Standards for Area Variances
The Wisconsin Supreme Court has established a standard for granting variances to zoning regulations. For
“area” variances, the property owner and/or applicant has the burden of proving that the standard for granting an
area variance has been met. In order to grant an area variance, the Board of Appeals must determine that all of
the following criteria of section 2-903 are satisfied:
(a) Compliance with the strict letter of the Zoning Ordinance regulating area, setbacks, frontage, height, bulk or

density would create a hardship by either:
(1) unreasonably preventing the owner from using the property for a permitted purpose; or
(2) rendering conformity with such regulations unnecessarily burdensome.

(b) The hardship is unique to the property.
(c) The hardship is not self-created.
(d) The variance will not undermine the purpose of the ordinance or the public interest.
(e) The variance will not permit a use of land that substantially changes the character of the neighborhood.

 The attached Findings of Fact evaluate this application against the above standards.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan:
 The Comprehensive Plan recommends Single-Family Residential – Urban uses and a zoning district classification

of R-1B for the subject property.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

15



BOA-2020-02, 1239 Porter Avenue, Pounds

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the requested Area Variance to Section 7.1 of the
City of Beloit Zoning Ordinance to allow a building addition within the front setback area in an R-1B, Single-Family
Residential District, for the property located at 1239 Porter Avenue, based upon the established criteria of Section 2-903
of the Zoning Ordinance and the attached Findings of Fact.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Findings of Fact, Location Map, Photos, Application, Sketch, Public Notice, and Mailing List.

16



BOA-2020-02, 1239 Porter Avenue, Pounds

CITY OF BELOIT
FINDINGS OF FACT

Area Variance to Section 7.1 of the City of Beloit Zoning Ordinance to allow a building addition within the front
setback area in an R-1B, Single-Family Residential District, for the property located at 1239 Porter Avenue.

Under the standards for Area Variances in Section 2-903 of the Zoning Ordinance, Planning staff finds:

(a) Compliance with the strict letter of the Zoning Ordinance regulating area, setbacks, frontage, height, bulk or
density would create a hardship by either:

(1) Unreasonably preventing the owner from using the property for a permitted purpose; or

(2) Rendering conformity with such regulations unnecessarily burdensome.

The minimum front setback of 20 feet prevents the applicant from constructing the proposed addition, which is
intended to make the house more accessible for current and future owners. The addition is really on the side of the
house, even though it is the front for setback and addressing purposes.

(b) The hardship is unique to the property.

The subject property has an unusual shape due to its location at the convergence of Porter and Prairie Avenues. The
house is not parallel to Porter Avenue, but is parallel to Prairie Ave, which is essentially the rear lot line. The front of
the house faces southwest towards the intersection. A similarly sized master suite addition to the south or north would
also encroach into minimum setback areas.

(c) The hardship is not self-created.

The applicant purchased the subject property in 1985, well before the current Zoning Ordinance was enacted. The
applicant is seeking to construct a master suite that will facilitate accessibility to allow aging-in-place, but an addition
in any direction encroaches into setbacks.

(d) The variance will not undermine the purpose of the ordinance or the public interest.

The variance will allow the expansion and improvement of an existing single-family dwelling. Because the proposed
addition is narrower than the existing house, the proposed addition will still be setback 7.5 feet from the lot line.

(e) The variance will not permit a use of land that substantially changes the character of the neighborhood.

The applicant is not proposing a change in land use.

17



BOA-2020-02, 1239 Porter Avenue, Pounds

Location Map

18



BOA-2020-02, 1239 Porter Avenue, Pounds
19



BOA-2020-02, 1239 Porter Avenue, Pounds
20



BOA-2020-02, 1239 Porter Avenue, Pounds
21



BOA-2020-02, 1239 Porter Avenue, Pounds

17’ Setback

7.5’ Setback

22



BOA-2020-02, 1239 Porter Avenue, Pounds
23



BOA-2020-02, 1239 Porter Avenue, Pounds
24


	Board of Appeals Agenda
	2018-2584 - Attachment
	2018-2585 - Attachment
	2018-2586 - Attachment

